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 Plaintiff Aram J. Pehlivanian, by and through his attorneys, alleges the following upon 

information and belief, except as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff, which are alleged 

upon personal knowledge. Plaintiff’s information and belief are based upon, among other things, 

his own and his counsel’s investigation, which include without limitation: (1) review and 

analysis of regulatory filings made by China Gerui Advanced Materials Group Ltd. (“CHOP” or 

the “Company”) with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”); (2) 

review and analysis of press releases and media reports issued by and disseminated by CHOP; 

and (3) review of other publicly available information concerning CHOP. 

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is a class action against CHOP, its directors, and officers, collectively and 

individually, brought on behalf of purchasers of CHOP’s securities between January 11, 2012 

and September 4, 2014, inclusive (“ ”), who seek to pursue remedies under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). 

2. CHOP is a leading niche and high value-added steel processing company based in China. 

The Company produces high-end, high-precision, ultra-thin, high-strength, cold-rolled steel 

products. CHOP’s products are not standardized; they are built to its customers’ requirements.  

The Company sells its products both domestically, in China, and internationally. 

3. On September 4, 2014, CHOP disclosed that, at some point between March 31, 2014 and 

June 30, 2014, it had purportedly spent $234 million of its unrestricted cash reserves to acquire a 

collection of antique Chinese porcelain that it valued at $905 million, although CHOP provided 

no details regarding when or from whom the porcelain was purchased, where the collection was 

being stored, whether it is insured, and who appraised and authenticated the collection.  

4. This supposed purchase of antiquities was all the more shocking because, in the years and 
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months leading up to the announcement, CHOP had consistently and unambiguously 

communicated to the investing public that its goals for growth included an expansion and 

diversification of its product lines, identification of overseas markets, and business combinations 

with competitors. 

5. Moreover, prior to this purported purchase, the Company had touted its significant cash 

reserves, previously reporting holdings of $230.7 million of unrestricted cash, $18.6 million in 

current certificates of deposit, and $75.5 million in restricted cash as of March 31, 2014. By 

contrast, on September 4, 2014, the Company disclosed that as of June 30, 2014, it had a mere $3 

million in unrestricted cash, $10.8 million in current certificates of deposit, and $76.1 million in 

restricted cash. 

6. On the announcement of this alleged acquisition, shares of CHOP declined from $0.61 

per share on September 3, 2014 to a September 4, 2014 closing price of $0.49 per share, 

representing a decline of approximately 20%.  

7. To prevent CHOP’s shares from being delisted by NASDAQ, on November 6, 2014, 

CHOP’s board of directors (“Board”) approved a one-for-ten reverse stock split in order to raise 

the share price above the NASDAQ’s $1.00 per share listing requirement.  

8. However, the utter failure of CHOP’s directors and officers to make any clarifying 

disclosures since September 4, 2014 regarding CHOP’s purported antiquities purchase has 

caused the investing public’s total loss of confidence in CHOP’s corporate governance, which 

has resulted in the price of CHOP’s shares declining to a reverse split-adjusted low of $1.70 per 

share on November 12, 2014, a mere fraction of the reverse split-adjusted, September 3, 2014 

price of $6.10. 

9. Throughout the Class Period, CHOP, its directors, and its officers (collectively 
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“Defendants”), collectively and/or individually, made false and/or misleading statements, and 

failed to disclose material adverse facts about the Company’s business, strategy, operations, and 

prospects. Specifically, Defendants made false and/or misleading statements to the effect that: 

(1) the Company’s growth strategy consisted of the introduction of new products and the 

identification of new markets; and (2) the Company possessed over $200 million in unrestricted 

cash. Further, Defendants failed to disclose: (1) that the Company in fact planned to squander 

virtually its entire unrestricted cash holdings in order to—purportedly—purchase Chinese 

porcelain; and (2) that later, the Company had largely disposed of its cash in order to—

purportedly—purchase Chinese porcelain. 

10. As a result of Defendants’ wrongful acts and omissions, and the precipitous decline in the 

market value of the Company’s securities, Plaintiff and other purchasers of CHOP’s securities 

between during the Class Period (“Class”) have suffered significant losses and damages. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

11. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to Section 27 of 

the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa. In addition, because this is a civil action arising under the 

laws of the United States, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

12. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

78aa, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), as the Company conducts business in this district and the 

Company’s stock has traded on the NASDAQ at all relevant times. CHOP has additional 

contacts with this district, including, but not limited to, its use of professionals at the Manhattan 

office of Grayling, a public relations firm, to disseminate investor relations materials to the 

general public and to provide translation services during CHOP’s earnings conference calls.1 

                                                            
1 Grayling has performed public relations services for a number of troubled Chinese corporations listed on U.S. 
exchanges, including: China-Biotics, Inc., whose auditor resigned in 2011 amid apparent accounting irregularities, 
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CHOP has also held meetings with investors in Grayling’s Manhattan office. Additionally, Harry 

Edelson, a member of CHOP’s Board, wrote in 2012 that CHOP’s Hong Kong auditor transmits 

its final audit to a “highly capable” New York affiliate for further review. Finally, CHOP CFO 

Edward Meng has served as a panelist at the American Metal Market’s Steel Success Strategies 

Conference in Manhattan in 2012, 2013, and 2014, each of which was sponsored in part by 

CHOP. 

13. In connection with the acts alleged herein, Defendants, directly or indirectly, used the 

means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but not limited to, the U.S. mails, 

interstate telephone communications, e-mail, and the facilities of national securities exchanges. 

III. PARTIES 

14. Plaintiff Aram J. Pehlivanian (“Plaintiff”), as set forth in the accompanying certification, 

incorporated by reference herein, purchased CHOP common stock during the Class Period, and 

suffered damages as a result of the federal securities law violations and/or misleading statements 

and/or material omissions alleged herein. 

15. Defendant CHOP is a corporation incorporated under the laws of the British Virgin 

Islands, with its principal executive offices located at 1 Shuanghu Development Zone, Xinzheng 

City, Zhengzhou, Henan Province 451191, People’s Republic of China. 

16. Defendant Mingwang Lu (“Mr. Lu”) is the Chairman of CHOP’s Board, and is also 

CHOP’s Chief Executive Officer. He has served in both positions at CHOP or a predecessor 

corporation since 2000. 

17. Edward Meng (“Mr. Meng”) has been the Chief Financial Officer of CHOP since 2009. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                
and whose registration the SEC ultimately revoked in November 2013; China Agritech, Inc., three of whose 
independent directors resigned in 2012, which fact was concealed for months, contributing to China Agrictech, 
Inc.’s entry into an October 2012 consent order with the SEC revoking its registration; and Shengkai Innovations, 
Inc., whose penultimate SEC filing, dated September 3, 2013, announced that three directors simultaneously 
resigned “for personal reasons.” 
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Mr. Mang previously served as CHOP’s Director of Investor Relations. Prior to his employment 

with CHOP, he was employed by A-Power Energy Generations Systems, Ltd. (“A-Power”), a 

Chinese corporation that became listed on the NASDAQ following a reverse merger. A-Power 

ultimately fired Mr. Meng in 2008 for failing to disclose that he had been serving as another 

company’s full-time CFO while also serving as A-Power’s CFO. The other company had also 

previously fired Mr. Meng for being simultaneously employed by both companies. A-Power 

suffered a rash of resignations in 2011, including that of its auditor, and has since had its 

registration revoked by the SEC. 

18. Yi Lu has been a CHOP director since 2009. He has also served as the Company’s Chief 

Operating Officer since 2011. Mr. Yi Lu is also the son of Mingwang Lu, CHOP’s Chief 

Executive Officer and the Chairman of its Board. 

19. Harry Edelson (“Mr. Edelson”) has been a CHOP director since 2009. He previously 

served as the chairman of the board and chief executive officer of a predecessor corporation. 

Since 2010, CHOP has paid Mr. Edelson $10,000 a month in consideration for his agreement to 

provide “certain investor relations services,” including “helping to promote awareness of the 

Company within the investment community through introductions to investors, investment 

banks, and research analysts,” participation in road shows, participation in investor conference 

presentations, “whether or not management of the Company is able to be present,” and providing 

CHOP with access to office space and communications facilities. 

20. J.P. Huang (“Mr. Huang”) has been a CHOP director since 2009. Mr. Huang serves on 

the Board’s Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate 

Governance Committee. 

21. Kwok Keung Wong (“Mr. Wong”) was a CHOP director from 2009 through his 
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resignation on August 28, 2014.  Even though Mr. Wong could simply not have run for 

reelection in one month, he resigned shortly before CHOP’s September 4, 2014 surprise 

announcement of its massive antiquities acquisition. Mr. Wong served on the Board’s Audit 

Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 

22. Yunlong Wang (“Mr. Wang”) has been a CHOP director since 2009. Mr. Wang assumed 

Mr. Wong’s positions on the Board’s Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and 

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee following Mr. Wong’s resignation from the 

Board, and the aforesaid Board Committee’s. 

23. Maotong Xu (“Mr. Xu”) has been a CHOP director since 2009. Mr. Xu serves on the 

Board’s Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate 

Governance Committee. He is the chair of all three of the aforementioned committees. 

24. Defendants Mr. Mingwang Lu, Mr. Meng, Mr. Yi Lu, Mr. Edelson, Mr. Huang, Mr. 

Wong, Mr. Wang, and Mr. Xu are collectively referred to hereinafter as the “Individual 

Defendants.” The Individual Defendants, because of their positions with the Company, possessed 

the power and authority to control the contents of CHOP’s reports to the SEC, its press releases, 

and its presentations to securities analysts, money and portfolio managers, and institutional 

investors, i.e., the market. Each Individual Defendant was provided with copies of the 

Company’s reports and press releases alleged herein to be misleading prior to, or shortly after, 

their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to be 

corrected. Because of their positions and access to material non-public information available to 

them, each of these Individual Defendants knew that the adverse facts specified herein had not 

been disclosed to, and were being concealed from, the public, and that the positive 

representations that were being made were then materially false and/or misleading. The 
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Individual Defendants are liable for the false and misleading statements pleaded herein, as those 

statements were each “group-published” information, the result of the collective actions of the 

Individual Defendants. 

IV. SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

 A. Background – A Struggling Chinese Steel Industry 

25. By the early part of this decade, the Chinese steel industry was showing signs of distress. 

Although it was already the largest in the world by 2010, responsible for approximately 45.7% of 

global output,2 years of growth had left it with a glut of capacity. Indeed, in 2010, China Daily 

reported that the China Iron and Steel Association had warned that the Chinese steel industry 

faced “heavy losses in the second half of [2010] unless it tackle[d] its longstanding capacity 

problems.”3 Additionally, the industry was heavily fragmented, with more than 660 companies 

producing crude steel, and thousands of other firms producing finished steel and steel-related 

products, making it difficult for the industry to negotiate better pricing on iron ore, steel’s main 

input.4  

26. To bolster the Chinese steel industry’s prospects, the Chinese government issued a 2010 

Five Year Plan, which included measures intended to promote industry consolidation in the name 

of reducing capacity, decreasing pollution, and improving China’s bargaining position for 

purchasing iron ore.5 

 B. 2011-2013: To Weather China’s Foundering Economy, CHOP Undertakes to 

                                                            
2 Reuters, Factbox – China’s Ten Biggest Steel Producers, May 21, 2010, available at 
http://www.reuters.com/article/2010/05/21/china-steel-idUSTOE64H04320100521 (last accessed Nov. 26, 2014). 
3 China Daily, China July Steel Output Down 3.7% at 51.75m Tons, Aug. 11, 2010, available at 
http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2010-08/11/content_11137460.htm (last accessed Nov. 26, 2014). 
4 James Holloway et al., China’s Steel Industry, Reserve Bank of Australia Bulletin, December Quarter 2010 at 20, 
available at http://www.rba.gov.au/publications/bulletin/2010/dec/pdf/bu-1210-3.pdf. 
5 KPMG China, China’s 12th Five-Year Plan: Iron and Steel, May 2011, available at 
https://www.kpmg.com/CN/en/IssuesAndInsights/ArticlesPublications/Documents/China-12th-Five-Year-Plan-Iron-
Steel-201105-2.pdf (last accessed Nov. 26, 2014). 
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“Create a Blend of Revenues Across a Broader Customer Base” 

27. During the changes in the Chinese steel industry, CHOP initially reported a stronger 

performance than the Chinese economy would have predicted. Mr. Lu’s October 17, 2011 letter 

to shareholders reported that from 2009 to 2010, CHOP’s revenue had increased 16.0%, its profit 

increased 15.5%, and its gross margin had decreased only slightly, to 29.9%. While 

acknowledging the general excess of supply in the Chinese steel industry, Mr. Lu emphasized his 

belief that as a manufacturer of high-precision, cold-rolled, narrow-strip steel, CHOP was 

supplying a market suffering from a lack of production capacity.  He also touted CHOP’s recent 

efforts to increase capacity, specifically its addition of capacity to produce cold-rolled, wide-strip 

steel and chromium plate steel at rates of 150,000 tons per year and 200,000 tons per year, 

respectively. Mr. Lu also predicted that demand for the Company’s products would continue to 

grow with the Chinese economy, and added that the Company expected to increase cold-rolled, 

wide-strip steel capacity by another 100,000 tons by the end of 2011. 

28. The Company’s 2010 annual report noted that, as of December 31, 2010, CHOP had 

$119.5 million in unrestricted cash and $66.5 million in restricted cash. The Company noted that 

it was reserving the use of its cash for CHOP’s capital expansion program. 

29. CHOP’s cash reserves were a point of pride, which the Company regularly trumpeted in 

communications to the public. In a January 11, 2012 article on Seeking Alpha titled “Warren 

Buffett Would Love Special Situation Company China Gerui,” Mr. Edelson even touted CHOP’s 

“growing cash trove of $225 million.” He concluded that the “down side for CHOP appears 

minimal while the upside is high,” and that a higher ratio of price to earnings “seem[ed] 

inevitable.” 

30. In an October 18, 2012 letter to shareholders, Mr. Lu had moderated the enthusiasm in 
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his letter from the preceding year. Despite a year-on-year increase in revenue and gross profit 

from 2010, the Company had begun to experience declines in average sales price and sales 

volume in the fourth quarter of 2011, which Mr. Lu attributed to the slowing Chinese economy. 

Mr. Lu further stated that to overcome the challenging environment, the Company would 

“diversify [its] revenue stream” by expanding to overseas markets. Mr. Lu also expressed 

optimism that the Company would benefit from continued high domestic demand for high-

precision, cold-rolled steel. In addition, Mr. Lu mentioned the Company’s efforts to diversify its 

outputs, noting that chromium-plated products were beginning to comprise a greater percentage 

of its output. Mr. Lu indicated that the Company’s expansion into chromium-plated products and 

wide-strip, cold-rolled steel would improve its ability to acquire new customers and, presumably, 

weather the economic headwinds with a more diverse product mix. 

31. The Company’s 2011 annual report noted that, as of December 31, 2011, CHOP had 

$246.6 million in unrestricted cash, $118.1 million in restricted cash, and $3.2 million in 

certificates of deposit. The Company again noted that it was reserving the use of its cash for 

CHOP’s capital expansion program. 

32. Consistent with its publicly stated goal of identifying potential targets for acquisition, on 

May 1, 2013, CHOP entered into an agreement with Cambelle-Inland, LLC (“Cambelle”) for 

advice and strategic consulting services regarding the “development and execution of a global 

growth, operational and acquisitions strategy.” The agreement called for CHOP to pay Cambelle 

$500,000 in cash, to reimburse it $16,000 for certain expenses, and to issue it a warrant for the 

purchase of 500,000 ordinary CHOP shares at a price of $2.20 per share.6 

33. Regarding CHOP’s retention of Cambelle, Mr. Lu commented on May 13, 2013 that 

CHOP planned to “globalize [its] business through accretive acquisitions while continuing to 
                                                            
6 Adjusted for the reverse split, the exercise price would now be $22.00 per share. 
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focus on organic growth opportunities . . . .” This strategy would enable CHOP, “[d]uring the 

next few years, . . . [to] create a blend of revenues across a broader customer base, both 

domestically . . . and internationally.” Mr. Lu noted that CHOP had “long communicated to the 

marketplace that acquisitions and potential joint ventures that will capture market share in 

materials processing and broaden our end-user applications were a part of our long-term growth 

strategy . . . .” 

34. However, by the end of 2013, CHOP’s financial problems were becoming more apparent. 

In an October 31, 2013 shareholder letter, Mr. Lu reported year-on-year decreases in revenue, 

gross profit, and gross margin of 22.3%, 43.9%, and 8.3%, respectively. Mr. Lu attributed the 

Company’s difficulties to the same factors afflicting many other players in the Chinese steel 

industry, notably weak domestic demand, excess domestic production capacity, and “ongoing 

pricing pressures.” However, Mr. Lu remained committed to CHOP’s strategic growth plan, of 

which “evolving [the] business into higher-margin . . . sectors,” including laminated steel 

processing, was a major component. He expressed hope that CHOP could be “transform[ed] into 

a company with a larger product mix” that would permit it to cultivate a “larger and diversified 

base of domestic and international customers.” Regarding these efforts, Mr. Lu noted that the 

Company was “continuing to build [its] new product pipeline of laminated and chromium-plated 

products,” and “slowly expanding [its] international . . . business where [CHOP] will become 

more aggressive as market conditions improve.” Additionally, Mr. Lu indicated that the 

Company was investigating potential “accretive acquisitions and potential joint ventures” as a 

way of more rapidly diversifying its product mix and gaining market share. Mr. Lu also 

emphasized the Company’s continued efforts to develop new products through research. 

35. Nevertheless, CHOP’s cash holdings remained a bright spot for the Company. The 
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Company’s 2012 annual report noted that, as of December 31, 2012, CHOP had $228.9 million 

in unrestricted cash, $145.4 million in restricted cash, and $19.6 million in certificates of deposit. 

The Company again noted that it was reserving the use of its cash for CHOP’s capital expansion 

program. 

 C. March 20, 2014: CHOP Emphasizes Its Commitment to Remaining “Fiscally 

Disciplined with Its Cash Resources” 

36. On March 20, 2014, the Company held an earnings conference call to discuss its results 

for the final quarter of 2013. Mr. Lu characterized the Company’s fourth quarter results as 

reflecting “slow economic growth, overcapacity, and the ongoing week demand for [s]teel 

products in China.” 

37. Regarding the Company’s plans for 2014, Mr. Lu predicted that CHOP would be “well 

positioned to benefit as a premier high end specialty steel producer from the [Chinese] 

government’s restructuring plans for the steel industry and have put in place the strategies to 

capture growth.” Specifically, Mr. Lu emphasized CHOP’s commitment to “accelerating” its 

push into higher margin steel products, including laminated steel. Mr. Lu also touted CHOP’s 

efforts to cultivate its exports and expansion into new international markets for its products. 

Finally, Mr. Lu reported that the Company was continuing to “actively pursue viable mergers 

and acquisitions or strategic partnerships that w[ould] enable positive contribution to cash flow” 

with the help of an “external consultant,” presumably Cambelle. He noted, however, that the 

prospective targets considered to date had not met the Company’s acquisition criteria, and 

accordingly, were “not . . . a good strategic fit” for CHOP. 

38. Mr. Meng then discussed the Company’s financials. He noted that the Company’s 

revenue had decreased 27.7% from the fourth quarter of 2012 to the fourth quarter of 2013. He 
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also reported that the Company had experienced a $2.8 million gross loss in the fourth quarter of 

2013, as compared with a $6.9 million gross profit in the fourth quarter of 2012. Mr. Meng 

further noted that gross profit had decreased 140.2% from the fourth quarter of 2012 to the 

fourth quarter of 2013. He also reported that the Company had $237.1 million in unrestricted 

cash, $24.2 million in current certificates of deposit, and $114.8 million in restricted cash as of 

December 31, 2013. 

39. Mr. Meng noted that the Company would stay “fiscally disciplined with its cash 

resources” in light of the “working capital intensive nature” of the steel industry. He also 

intimated that the Company’s efforts to “build[] investor confidence” in CHOP’s stock through 

the Company’s share repurchase program must be balanced against the need to “carefully 

manage [CHOP’s] cash resource[s] to opportunistically capitalize on the investments and/or 

assets that would generate a higher return on invested capital.” 

40. He closed on a note of optimism, expressing that he believed the Company’s growth 

strategies would begin to yield results in the second half of 2014, summarizing said strategies 

thusly: 

Commercial production of limited processed steel will commence in the second 
quarter of 2014, continued evaluation and/or expansion of new export markets 
and assessment of variable strategic projects, mergers and acquisitions that may 
post a positive contribution to cash flow, broaden end-user applications, provide 
[Research and Development] renovation and complement our product portfolio. 

 
 D. May 20, 2014: CHOP Remains Focused on Cultivating “New Products and 

New Markets” 

41. On May 20, 2014, CHOP held an investor conference call to discuss its financial 

performance during the first quarter of the 2014 fiscal year. Mr. Lu attributed the Company’s 

performance to the “tumultuous performance of the steel sector in China,” as well as a 
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“seasonally slow first quarter.” However, Mr. Meng cryptically noted that the Company had 

“strategically prepared for identifying new areas of growth.” Acknowledging the “headwinds” 

that the Company faced, Mr. Lu reiterated the Company’s revenue guidance for 2014 of $175 

million to $180 million, “assuming we continue to operate under the current business model.” 

This guidance reflected the Company’s expectations for “sequential improvement in the second 

through fourth quarters.” 

42. Regarding the Company’s future strategies, Mr. Lu indicated that the Company was 

“focused on [its] near-term growth strategies with new products and new markets that will enable 

the [C]ompany to regain profitability and preserve [its] integrity with the capital markets.” Mr. 

Lu indicated that the Company was poised to take advantage of changes in the Chinese steel 

manufacturing sector. First, he noted that the Chinese government had begun two initiatives in 

order to spur demand for steel: an effort to increase housing supply through a focus on building 

affordable housing, and building more high speed rail stations. Mr. Lu stated that the Company 

had “started to formulate [its] product mix and cater to the anticipated demand change, including 

ramping up the laminated steel production line initially targeting construction and decoration 

industries.”  

43. Mr. Lu also reported that the utilization of the Company’s chromium plating production 

lines had risen from 49% in the fourth quarter of 2013 to 51% in the first quarter of 2014, and 

expressed optimism that “chromium plating utilization will continue to rise as the production line 

is operating at commercial run rates.” Mr. Lu further expressed his purported belief that the 

Company was “well positioned to benefit as a premier high end specialty steel producer from the 

government restructuring plans for the steel industry and have put in place strategies to captive 

[sic] growth.” Mr. Lu indicated that the Company would accomplish this goal by “accelerating 
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[its] business into new higher margin steel sectors, including laminated process steel.” The result 

of this growth toward producing laminated steel would enable the Company to “regain limited 

pricing power, improve margins and reach optimal utilization by the end of 2014.” Mr. Lu also 

indicated that the Company expected to “compete in the higher growth steel markets, provide 

better solutions for customers and further obtain a larger market share.” 

44. Mr. Lu further indicated that the Company would “continue to cultivate [its] export 

business,” and expected it to account for “35% to 45% of total revenues over the next five 

years.” 

45. Following Mr. Lu’s remarks, Mr. Meng discussed the Company’s financial situation. He 

noted that the Company’s revenue and gross profits for the first quarter of 2014 had decreased by 

42% and 123.9%, respectively, from the first quarter of 2013. Notwithstanding the overall 

financial picture, Mr. Meng reported that the Company nevertheless had $230.7 million in 

unrestricted cash, $18.6 million in current certificates of deposit, and $75.5 million in restricted 

cash as of March 31, 2014. 

46. Mr. Meng also emphasized that the Company would “remain fiscally disciplined with its 

cash resources given the working capital intensive nature of [its] business.” 

47. Mr. Meng further remarked upon the Company’s efforts to maintain its share price, 

noting that it had expended approximately $6.1 million on its share repurchase program from 

April 2011 through March 2014. 

48. Mr. Meng also noted that the Company had “screened several potential acquisition 

targets,” but ultimately did not proceed with the prospective acquisitions because the targets 

“would not meet the acquisition criteria.” Despite the Company’s failure to proceed with an 

acquisition, Mr. Meng nevertheless noted that the Company would “continue to work with 
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external consultants and the finance advisers” regarding acquisitions. He concluded by noting 

that the Company would continue to develop competencies that would set it apart from its 

competitors, including “superior customer relations, higher premium products and the [sic] 

sound fiscal management.” 

 E. CHOP Abruptly Abandons Its “Fiscal Discipline,” Announcing That It Has 

Squandered Its Unrestricted Cash on an “Alternative Investment” of Chinese 

Antiquities 

49. Following the announcement of its first quarter results, CHOP continued to promote its 

stock and to characterize its growth strategy in a manner consistent with its prior descriptions. 

On May 30, 2014, the Company issued a press release claiming that CHOP stock had a book 

value of $4.81 per share, but was trading at $0.90 per share. The press release linked to an 

investor presentation co-authored by CHOP and Grayling, which highlighted CHOP’s focus on 

“customized, high value-added, high-margin steel production” and its “[d]efined long-term 

growth strategy.” The presentation also outlined CHOP’s “Disciplined Growth Strategy” as 

involving a doubling of capacity, broadening its product portfolio, improving efficiency, 

expanding CHOP’s market share, and pursuing acquisitions and strategic partnerships. Just a 

week later, on June 6, 2014, CHOP issued an update concerning its share repurchase program. In 

the release, Mr. Lu characterized CHOP shares as “severely undervalued,” again noting CHOP’s 

book value. Neither release mentioned any material changes to CHOP’s unrestricted cash 

holdings, although the June 6, 2014 release contained a comment from Mr. Lu to the effect that 

the Company would use its cash in the near term to continue its share repurchase program. 

50. On September 2, 2014, CHOP announced in a press release that Mr. Wong had tendered 

his resignation from the Board and Board Committees on August 28, 2014. The publicly 
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announced reason for Mr. Wong’s departure was “personal health reasons.”  This resignation 

was announced, despite the fact that Mr. Wong was up for re-election in one month, and he could 

have simply not run for re-election. 

51. Just two days later, on September 4, 2014, during an earnings conference call to discuss 

its results for the second quarter of fiscal year 2014, the Company made a shocking 

announcement regarding its disposal of most of its cash holdings. 

52. Speaking through an interpreter employed by Grayling, Mr. Lu once again attributed the 

Company’s share price decline to the “struggling Chinese steel industry business,” which he 

summarized as having “over-capacity, greater-than-needed production, and reduced demand.” 

Mr. Lu indicated that the Company’s management had “evaluated alternative investments to 

offset the pressure related to the Company’s core metals business.” He then announced the 

following: 

Management and the Board of Directors have decided to take advantage of [the 
Company’s] rich cash position to make an alternative investment legally [sic] to 
provide a better near-term return on capital and cash load support [the 
Company’s] steel operations during the transitional phase of the steel industry 
restructuring. In particular, [the Company was] presented with the opportunity to 
invest in a valuable antique porcelain collection at a highly discounted price due 
to financial pressure on the owner. 
 
We are pleased to announce that China Gerui acquired a rare porcelain collection 
dating back as early as the Song Dynasty, more than 1,000 years ago, for $234 
million. This purchase price represents a 74% discount with the appraised value 
of $905 million. It is our intention to sell all 206 pieces over time to reinforce our 
cash position and earn a substantial return. 

 
53. Mr. Lu continued that the Company would use the profits from the sale of the porcelain 

collection specifically to: 

support our steel operations while the steel industry gains stronger fundamental 
balance. [The Company] intend[s] to use these new financial resources to support 
[CHOP’s] metals operations, for geographic and international expansion, entrance 
into new end user applications, research and development and strategic 
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acquisitions. While steel and iron ore prices have reached all-time lows over the 
past few years, prices of antique porcelain have risen sharply over the same time 
period. 

 
54. Mr. Lu acknowledged the “short-term pressure on [CHOP’s] cash position” resulting 

from the porcelain acquisition, but optimistically expressed that “the potential rewards are far 

greater than anything [that the Company] can receive in our current metal business in the near 

future.” During a later portion of the call, Mr. Meng stated that as of June 30, 2014, the 

Company now had an alarmingly low $3 million in unrestricted cash, $10.8 million in current 

certificates of deposit, and $76.1 million in restricted cash, as compared with $237.1 million in 

unrestricted cash, $34.2 million in current certificates of deposit, and $114.8 million in restricted 

cash, as of December 31, 2013. 

55. Mr. Meng provided additional insight into the supposed reasons behind the antiquities 

purchase. He noted that the decision had been made “[a]fter careful deliberation and with the 

support of the Board of Directors,” and that it would enable the Company to “capitalize on a 

unique opportunity to enter the growing culture antiquities market.” Mr. Meng characterized the 

acquisition as a “viable alternative to maximize the long-term cash appreciation of [the 

Company’s] cash assets,” which would “propel faster growth of corporate assets.” Although he 

also acknowledged the “short-term pressure on the Company’s capital charge,” Mr. Meng stated 

that the Company’s management felt that “in the next three to five years that investment will 

alleviate the pressure of capital needs for fixed asset investments and working capital in the 

metals processing business.” 

56. Like Mr. Lu, Mr. Meng also stated that the sale of the antiquities would be used to “fund 

the working capital for the metals processing business, geographic and international expansion, 

entrance into new end-user applications, research and development and the strategic 

Case 1:14-cv-09443-ER   Document 1   Filed 11/26/14   Page 18 of 39



19 
 

acquisitions.” He also stated that “[t]his has been [CHOP’s] long-term strategy and it will 

continue to divert resources to the realization of the strategic vision.” 

57. Mr. Meng further noted that although the Company had investigated potential 

acquisitions “in related businesses,” the Company’s stock price and market value made the 

consummation of such acquisitions difficult. Thus, when the Company had the opportunity to 

buy the porcelain collection at “a very attractive price,” the Company “jumped at it.” 

58. Regarding the specifics of the acquisition, Mr. Meng noted only that the porcelain came 

from a “private entrepreneur who was under financial pressure from his personal business.” Mr. 

Meng further indicated that the collection was “appraised and authenticated by Class A certified 

China arts appraisers with master levels of art authentication qualifications.” He also appeared to 

state that the prices of the individual porcelain objects compared favorably with those of similar 

pieces.7 He also reported that the funds for the porcelain acquisition came from the Company’s 

“existing cash accounts.” 

59. Mr. Meng further stated during the call that the acquisition had been approved by the 

Board and had been reported to its “auditors and legal counsel.” Mr. Meng characterized the 

purchase as a “pilot program.” 

60. Neither Mr. Meng nor Mr. Lu provided details regarding when or from whom the 

porcelain was purchased, where the collection was being stored, whether the collection is 

insured, and who appraised and authenticated the collection. Plaintiff’s efforts to obtain this 

information by making written and telephonic inquiries of Mr. Lu, CHOP’s investor relations 

department, Mr. Edelson, and Grayling were unsuccessful.8 

                                                            
7 Specifically, he stated that “[c]omfortable pricing was referenced to similar porcelain pieces of various auction 
markets both in and out of China in recent years.” 
8 Plaintiff sent emails to Vivian Chen of Grayling on September 10 and September 15, 2014, and to Kevin Theiss of 
Grayling on October 7, 2014. Plaintiff also had a telephone conversation with Mr. Theiss on October 7, 2014. In 
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 F. The Aftermath 

61. Following the unexpected and suspiciously opaque announcement that CHOP had 

gambled a substantial portion of unrestricted cash on a purchase of porcelain, CHOP’s shares 

predictably declined in value from $0.61 per share on September 3, 2014, to $0.49 per share on 

September 4, 2014, reflecting a decline of approximately 20% overnight.9 

62. In a September 26, 2014 letter to shareholders, Mr. Lu discussed CHOP’s ongoing efforts 

to implement its previously announced growth strategy. The letter made no mention of CHOP’s 

recent porcelain acquisition. Instead, as with numerous other recent discussions of CHOP’s 

strategy, Mr. Lu mentioned CHOP’s gradual transformation into a company “with a 

comprehensive product mix,” as well as its efforts to “develop customers in other markets.” He 

also noted the Company’s investments in research and development, as well as its development 

of laminated and chrome-plated products. Perplexingly, Mr. Lu also noted that the Company 

would continue to “maintain[] strict internal fiscal policy,” notwithstanding its disposal of the 

vast majority of its cash on a speculative porcelain purchase. 

63. With no clarifying disclosures regarding CHOP’s purported antiquities purchase 

forthcoming, share prices reached a low of $0.17 per share on November 12, 2014, representing 

a decline of approximately 72% from September 3, 2014.10  

64. To prevent CHOP’s shares from being delisted by NASDAQ, on November 7, 2014, the 

Board approved a one-for-ten reverse stock split in order to raise the share price above the 

NASDAQ’s $1.00 per share listing requirement. In the press release announcing the reverse split, 

Mr. Lu expressed hope that the reverse split would “raise the visibility for [CHOP] stock to a 

                                                                                                                                                                                                
addition, Plaintiff sent emails to Mr. Lu on September 10 and September 15, 2014. Plaintiff also sent emails to 
CHOP’s investor relations department on September 10, 2014. Finally, Plaintiff had a phone conversation with 
Harry Edelson on September 11, 2014. 
9 These prices reflect the share price prior to the 1-to-10 reverse split. 
10 These prices reflect the share price prior to the 1-to-10 reverse split. 
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broader range of institutional investors,” apparently overlooking the sheer improbability of an 

institutional investor’s purchasing shares of a steel corporation that made an unpredicted foray 

into Chinese antiquities and then failed to provide even the most basic information to its 

shareholders regarding its supposed strategic investment. 

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

65. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a Class, consisting of all of those who purchased CHOP’s securities 

during the Class Period, and who were damaged thereby. Excluded from the Class are Individual 

Defendants, the officers and directors of the Company, at all relevant times, as well as members 

of their immediate families, and their representatives, heirs, successors or assigns, and any entity 

in which Defendants have or had a controlling interest. 

66. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. 

Throughout the Class Period, CHOP’s securities were actively traded on the NASDAQ. While 

the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time, and can only be 

ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are hundreds or thousands 

of members in the proposed Class. Millions of CHOP shares were traded publicly on the 

NASDAQ during the Class Period. As of November 6, 2014, CHOP had 59.39 million shares 

outstanding. Record owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records 

maintained by CHOP or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by 

mail, using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions. 

67. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all members of 

the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ wrongful conduct in violation of federal law, as 

comy plained of herein. 
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68. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the Class and 

has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 

69. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and predominate 

over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the questions of law 

and fact common to the Class are: 

a. Whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as alleged 

herein; 

b. Whether Defendants’ statements to the investing public during the Class Period 

omitted and/or misrepresented material facts about CHOP’s business, strategy, 

operations, and prospects. 

c. To what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the proper 

measure of damages. 

70. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy, since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation makes it impossible for members of the Class to individually 

redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as 

a class action. 

VI. UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS 

71. The market for CHOP’s securities was open, well-developed, and efficient at all relevant 

times. As a result of Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements, and/or failures to 

disclose, CHOP’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. Plaintiff 

and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired CHOP’s securities relying upon 
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the integrity of the market price of CHOP’s securities, and upon market information relating to 

CHOP, and have been damaged thereby. Alternatively, Plaintiff and other members of the Class 

purchased or otherwise acquired CHOP’s securities when, but for Defendants’ materially false 

and/or misleading statements complained of herein and/or Defendants’ failure to make full and 

timely disclosures, they would not have. 

72. During the Class Period, Defendants materially misled the investing public, thereby 

inflating the price of CHOP’s securities, by publicly issuing false and/or misleading statements 

and/or omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Defendants’ statements, as set forth 

herein, not false and/or misleading. These statements and omissions were materially false and/or 

misleading in that they failed to disclose material adverse information and/or misrepresented the 

truth about CHOP’s business, strategy, operations, and prospects, as alleged herein. 

73. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized in this 

Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the 

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the 

Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or 

misleading statements about CHOP’s financial well-being, growth strategies, and or prospects. 

These material misstatements and/or omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the market 

an unrealistically positive assessment of the Company and its financial well-being and prospects, 

thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially inflated at all relevant 

times. Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class Period resulted 

in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at artificially 

inflated prices, thereby causing the damages complained of herein. 

VII. LOSS CAUSATION 
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74. Defendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused the 

economic loss suffered by Plaintiff and the Class. 

75. During the Class Period, Plaintiff and the Class purchased CHOP’s securities at 

artificially inflated prices and were damaged thereby. The price of the Company’s securities 

significantly declined when the misrepresentations made to the market, and/or the information 

alleged herein to have been concealed from the market, and/or the effects thereof were revealed, 

thereby resulting in losses to Plaintiff and the Class. 

VIII. SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

76. As alleged herein, Individual Defendants acted with scienter, in that Defendants knew 

that the public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company 

were materially false and/or misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be 

issued or disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or 

acquiesced in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary 

violations of the federal securities laws. As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, Defendants, by 

virtue of their receipt of information containing the true facts regarding CHOP, their control over 

and/or receipt and/or modification of CHOP’s materially misleading statements and/or their 

associations with the Company, making them privy to confidential proprietary information 

concerning CHOP, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. 

IX. APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE  
 (FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE 

77. The market for CHOP’s securities was open, well-developed, and efficient at all relevant 

times. As a result of the materially false and/or misleading statements and/or failures to disclose, 

CHOP’s securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. Plaintiff and other 

members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired CHOP’s securities in reliance upon the 
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integrity of the market price for CHOP’s securities and market-disseminated information relating 

to CHOP, and have accordingly been damaged thereby. 

78. During the Class Period, the artificial inflation of CHOP’s stock was caused by the 

material misrepresentations and/or omissions particularized in this Complaint, causing the 

damages that Plaintiffs and other Class members sustained. As described herein, during the Class 

Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or misleading 

statements about CHOP’s business, strategy, operations, and prospects. These material 

misstatements and/or omissions created an unrealistically positive assessment of CHOP and its 

business, strategy, operations, and prospects, thus causing the price of the Company’s securities 

to be artificially inflated at all relevant times, and when disclosed, negatively affected the value 

of the Company’s stock. Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the 

Class Period resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s 

securities at artificially inflated prices, and each of them has been damaged as a result thereof. 

79. At all relevant times, the market for CHOP’s securities was an efficient market for the 

following reasons, among others: 

a. CHOP stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and actively traded 

on NASDAQ, a highly efficient and automated market; 

b. As a regulated issuer, CHOP filed periodic public reports with the SEC and 

NASDAQ; and 

c. CHOP regularly communicated with public investors via established market 

communications mechanisms, including through the regular dissemination of 

press releases and the national circuits of major newswire services, as well as 

through other wide-ranging public disclosures, such as communications with the 
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financial press and other, similar reporting services. 

80. As a result of the foregoing, the market for CHOP’s securities promptly digested current 

information regarding the Company from all publicly available sources and reflected such 

information in CHOP’s stock price. Under these circumstances, all purchaseers of CHOP’s 

securities during the Class Period suffered similar injury through their purchase of CHOP’s 

securities at artificially inflated prices, and a presumption of reliance applies. 

X. NO SAFE HARBOR 

81. The statutory safe harbor provided for forward-looking statements under certain 

circumstances does not apply to any of the false statements pleaded in this Complaint. The 

statements alleged to be false and misleading herein all relate to then-existing facts and 

conditions. In addition, to the extent that certain of the statements alleged to be false may be 

characterized as forward looking, they were not identified as “forward-looking statements” when 

made, and there were no meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that 

could cause actual results to differ materially from those in the purportedly forward-looking 

statements. In the alternative, to the extent that the statutory safe harbor is determined to apply to 

any forward-looking statements pleaded herein, Defendants are liable for those false forward-

looking statements because at the time each of those forward-looking statements was made, the 

speaker had actual knowledge that the forward-looking statement was materially false and/or 

misleading, and/or the forward-looking statement was authorized or approved by an executive 

officer of CHOP who knew that the statement was false when made.  

COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(b) OF EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE 10b-5 

PROMULGATED THEREUNDER 
 
82. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully set 
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forth herein. 

83. During the Class Period, Defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of conduct 

that was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (1) deceive the investing public, 

including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (2) cause Plaintiff and other 

members of the Class to purchase CHOP securities at artificially inflated prices. In furtherance of 

this unlawful scheme, plan, and course of conduct, Defendants, and each of them, took the 

actions set forth herein. 

84. Defendants (1) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (2) made untrue 

statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements 

not misleading; and (3) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business that operated as a 

fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities in an effort to maintain 

artificially high market prices for CHOP’s securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. All Defendants are sued either as primary participants in the 

wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below. 

85. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a 

continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about CHOP’s business, 

strategy, operations, prospects, and financial wellbeing, as specified herein. 

86. These Defendants employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud, while in 

possession of material adverse non-public information, and engaged in acts, practices, and a 

course of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of CHOP’s value, 

performance, and prospects for growth, which included the making of, or the participation in the 

making of, untrue statements of material facts and/or omitting to state material facts necessary in 
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order to make the statements made about CHOP and its business operations and future prospects, 

in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, as set forth more 

particularly herein, and engaged in transactions, practices, and a course of business that operated 

as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company’s securities during the Class Period. 

87. Each of the Individual Defendants’ primary liability, and controlling person liability, 

arises from the following facts: (1) the Individual Defendants were high-level executives and/or 

directors at the Company during the Class Period and were members of the Company’s 

management team or had control thereof; (2) each of these defendants, by virtue of their 

responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company, was privy to and 

participated in the creation, development, and reporting of the Company’s internal budgets, 

plans, projections, and/or reports; (3) each of these Defendants enjoyed significant personal 

contact and familiarity with the other Defendants and was advised of, and had access to, other 

members of the Company’s management team, internal reports, and other data and information 

about the Company’s finances, operations, and sales at all relevant times; and (4) each of these 

Defendants was aware of the Company’s dissemination of information to the investing public 

that they knew was materially false and misleading, and/or recklessly disregarded the material 

falsity and misleading nature of the publicly disseminated information. 

88. The Defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions of 

material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed to 

ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such 

Defendants’ material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly, 

and for the purpose and effect of concealing CHOP’s true financial well-being and prospects 

from the investing public, and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities. As 
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demonstrated by Defendants’ mischaracterizations of the Company’s business, strategy, 

operations, prospects, and financial wellbeing throughout the Class Period, Individual 

Defendants, if they did not have actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions 

alleged, were reckless in failing to obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking 

those steps necessary to discover whether those statements were false or misleading. 

89. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and/or misleading information 

and/or failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of CHOP’s securities 

was artificially inflated during the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact that market prices of the 

Company’s securities were artificially inflated, and relying directly or indirectly on the false and 

misleading statements made by Defendants, or upon the integrity of the market in which the 

securities trade, and/or in the absence of material adverse information that was known to or 

recklessly disregarded by Individual Defendants, but not disclosed in public statements by 

Defendants during the Class Period, Plaintiff and other members of the Class acquired CHOP 

securities during the Class period at artificially high prices and were damaged thereby. 

90. At the time of said misrepresentations and/or omissions, Plaintiff and other members of 

the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true. Had Plaintiff and the other 

members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding the problems that CHOP 

was experiencing, which were not disclosed by Defendants, Plaintiff and other members of the 

Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their CHOP securities, or, if they had 

acquired such securities during the Class Period, they would not have done so at the artificially 

inflated prices that they paid. 

91. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act 

and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. 
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92. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and the other 

members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases and sales 

of the Company’s securities during the Class Period.  

COUNT II 
VIOLATION OF SECTION 20(a) OF EXCHANGE ACT 

 
93. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of CHOP within the meaning of 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. By virtue of their high-level positions, stock ownership, 

contractual arrangements, participation in, awareness of, direct control of and/or supervisory 

involvement in CHOP’s day-to-day operations during the Class Period, the Individual 

Defendants had the power to, and did, control and influence the decision-making of the 

Company and the conduct of CHOP’s business, including the content and dissemination of the 

statements that Plaintiff alleges to be materially false and misleading. Moreover, the Individual 

Defendants had a duty to disseminate accurate and truthful information regarding CHOP’s 

operations to correct any previously issued statements that had become untrue, so that the market 

price of CHOP’s common stock would be based upon truthful and accurate information. 

94. The Individual Defendants participated in writing and/or reviewing CHOP’s statements, 

reports, press releases, and SEC filings alleged herein to be misleading prior to and/or shortly 

after they were issued, and thus had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause 

them to be corrected, and thereby culpably participated in the fraud alleged herein. 

95. As a direct and proximate cause of CHOP’s and the Individual Defendants’ wrongful 

conduct as set forth herein, Plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered damages in 

connection with their purchases of CHOP’s common stock during the Class Period.  

COUNT III 
FRAUDULENT CONCEALMENT 
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96. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if fully set 

forth herein. 

97. As directors and officers of CHOP, Individual Defendants had a duty to disclose material 

facts to the public regarding the Company’s business, strategy, operations, prospects, and 

financial wellbeing. 

98. Defendants failed to disclose material facts regarding the Company, including that the 

Company planned to squander virtually its entire unrestricted cash holdings in order to—

purportedly—purchase Chinese porcelain, and, later, that the Company had largely disposed of 

its cash in order to—purportedly—purchase Chinese porcelain. 

99. Defendants failed to disclose these material facts with respect to the Company in order to 

deceive the investing public into purchasing CHOP’s stock and to deceive the investing public 

into believing that CHOP was properly managing its unrestricted cash. 

100. Plaintiff relied upon these material omissions when deciding to invest in CHOP stock, 

and, accordingly, was deceived thereby. 

101. Plaintiff was harmed as a result of this deception. 

 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment as follows: 

 (a) Determining that this action is a proper class action under Rule 23 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure; 

 (b) Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class 

members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

 (c) Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 
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